RECEIVED

Jul 01 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY

B. Alex Hyman, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-002251

Thomas Wade Long and Clyde Kiser, individually and on behalf of TnW and More, LLC, Respondents,

v.

Timothy D. Kettner, Donald Kettner, and TNT and More, Inc., d/b/a Crab Catchers on the Waterfront, Defendants,

of which Timothy D. Kettner and TNT and More, Inc., d/b/a Crab Catchers on the Waterfront, are Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT TNT AND MORE, INC.

Michael S. Harrison
HARRISON | PILLINGER, LLC
1297 Professional Drive, Suite 202
Myrtle Beach, South Carolina 29577
(843) 839-5909

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. A joint venture requires a common purpose distinct from the parties' separate businesses, mutual control, and shared profits and losses. Here, the parties ran separate businesses, lacked any joint ownership structure, exercised no mutual control, and kept separate profits and losses. Did the circuit court err in denying a JNOV on the jury's finding that a joint venture exists?
- II. Assuming a joint venture agreement exists, the proper party to enforce it is the joint venture or one of its parties proceeding on its behalf. Neither the alleged joint venture nor anyone proceeding on its behalf is a party to this case. Did the circuit court err in denying a JNOV as to Respondents' breach of joint venture agreement claim?
- III. Agreements which cannot be performed within one year or which transfer an interest in real estate must be in writing. The jury found the alleged agreement cannot be performed within one year and transfers an interest in real estate. Because the agreement is not in writing, did the circuit court err in denying a JNOV on Respondents' claim for breach of it?
- IV. Respondents sued for tortious interference with a \$10,000 month-to-month lease. But they signed a new lease shortly after the lessee left, and there is no evidence of how long the lease would have continued or any other losses Respondents suffered. Still, the jury awarded \$600,000, constituting five years of lost revenue. Did the circuit court err in denying a JNOV on this claim or in failing to remit the verdict amount?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case began with a falling out between Respondents Wade Long and Clyde “Chris” Kiser, and Appellant Tim Kettner in September 2020. The rift quickly expanded to include their corporate entities, Respondent TnW and More, LLC, and Appellant TNT and More, Inc. On March 12, 2021, Respondents sued TNT, Kettner, and current and former owners of TNT, Donald Kettner, Jose Morales, Casey Kuzmik, and Robert Benoit. R. pp. 42–82. Respondents amended their complaint on April 29, 2021, and again on July 6, 2022. R. pp. 83–166; pp. 167–209. The Second Amended Complaint alleges six causes of action against TNT and Kettner—promissory estoppel, breach of joint venture agreement, economic interference, assault, misappropriation, and nuisance—and one against Kettner for breach of fiduciary duty. TNT answered the Second Amended Complaint on September 13, 2022, and amended its answer on December 12, 2023. R. pp. 210–26; pp. 227–45.

The parties tried the case to a jury over 10 days in June 2024 before the Honorable B. Alex Hyman. During the trial, Respondents dropped all claims except breach of joint venture, economic interference, promissory estoppel, and breach of fiduciary duty, and dismissed all individual defendants except Kettner. R. p. 513, lines 15–18. TNT moved for a directed verdict at the close of Respondents’ case and after the close of all evidence. R. p. 1136, line 10–p. 1167, line 22; p. 1429, lines 16–18. The circuit court denied both motions. R. p. 1188, line 14–p. 1189, line 15; p. 1439, line 20–p. 1448, line 17.

The jury found for Respondents on all remaining claims, awarding damages against TNT totaling \$4,060,000 and against Kettner totaling \$390,000. R. pp. 39–41. The jury first found that a joint venture existed between TNT and TnW, TNT breached the joint venture agreement, and TnW’s damages were \$3,100,000. *Id.* Next, the jury found there was a clear and unambiguous

promise for “cooperation between TNT and TnW” through “consolidation of debt,” “guarantee of the loan,” the “shared use” of facilities, and the “future economic benefit to all parties.” *Id.* The jury found this promise included a transfer of real property and could not have been completed within one year. *Id.* It made no other findings as to promissory estoppel beyond the existence and content of the promise. The jury then awarded TnW \$480,000 and \$120,000 from TNT and Kettner respectively, with matching amounts in punitive damages, for Respondents’ economic interference claims. *Id.* Lastly, the jury awarded TnW \$50,000 from Kettner for breach of fiduciary duty, with an additional \$100,000 in punitive damages. *Id.*

TNT timely moved for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, a new trial absolute, or a new trial nisi remittitur, which the circuit court denied on September 30, 2025. R. pp. 2226–64. TNT then moved for reconsideration of this denial. R. pp. 2265–98. In both motions, TNT raised the impossibility of a joint venture based on the evidence, Respondents’ failure to proceed on behalf of the joint venture, the Statute of Frauds, and the lack of evidence supporting the jury’s economic interference damages. The circuit court denied TNT’s motion for reconsideration on November 5, 2025. R. pp. 33–35. TNT timely filed its notice of appeal with this Court on November 12, 2025. R. pp. 2299–2302.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. 2016: Long and Kettner organize TnW to operate a marina under the name Little River Water Sports next to TNT’s restaurant, Crab Catchers.

Tim Kettner and his brother-in-law Tony established TNT [Tim n’ Tony] and More, Inc. d/b/a Crab Catchers on the Waterfront in Little River, South Carolina around 1997. R. p. 1217, line 21–p. 1218, line 5. Beginning as a small riverside shack, Crab Catchers developed into a thriving business, including a successful seafood restaurant and fish market. R. p. 1219, lines 3–5. Through

this business, Kettner developed a close personal and professional relationship with Wade Long, a professional fisherman, operator of Longshot Charters, and host of “Longshot TV.” R. p. 1226, lines 3–12. The parties often described their relationship in familial terms and had common interests in the outdoors, hunting, and fishing. *Id.* Professionally, the two operated symbiotically but separately, with Long catching fish for Crab Catchers and Kettner sponsoring Long’s businesses. R. p. 481, lines 11–22. As their personal and professional relationship grew, Long was more willing to help Crab Catchers. For example, in 2014—years before Long and Kettner went into business—Long helped fill in a pond for Crab Catchers to use as additional parking spaces. R. p. 1291, line 4–p. 1292, line 23.

Through their conversations—largely over lunch at Crab Catchers or during a hunt—Long and Kettner devised a new way to make money. Their idea was to form a separate company which would buy the land behind the restaurant, develop a marina to capitalize on the waterfront, and eventually grow to include charter fishing, dolphin tours, fuel tanks, jet ski rentals, and more. R. p. 506, line 15–p. 507, line 6. If time and money allowed, they wanted to build an ice cream shop; a separate building which would house another restaurant, a dock master’s office, space for Long to sell merchandise, a tackle shop; and an icehouse for Long to offload fish from his fishing business. R. p. 906, line 24–p. 913, line 23. These plans were the product of Long and Kettner “talking on the dock about a dream that grows.” R. p. 798, line 20–p. 799, line 2. On June 30, 2016, Kettner and Long organized TnW [Tim n’ Wade] and More, LLC. R. p. 1227, lines 4–5. TnW

operated under the name Little River Water Sports.¹ All their grand plans would be part of TnW's business. R. p. 502, line 8–p. 510, line 18.

In this picture, TnW's property is bordered by the red lines above and to the left of the docks and the walkway to the right of them. TNT's property is the adjacent building (the Crab Catchers restaurant) and the remaining marsh and open space above TnW's property and to the left of the road, which served as a parking lot. R. p. 2101; *see also* R. p. 1875 (plat showing the property boundaries of TNT and TnW's parcels). Although TnW and TNT drafted and recorded a recombination plat which would have combined these parcels, they never exchanged deeds



or otherwise completed that process. R. p. 786, line 7–p. 787, line 4; p. 1277, line 2–p. 1278, line 17; *see also* R. p. 1299, lines 13–20 (stating that the recombination plat was for “future business ... if things worked out, we were moving forward”).

II. 2016–2020: “We weren’t in business with Crab Catchers, but they were a sponsor of ours, and we supported them.”

Taking to heart the adage that a rising tide lifts all boats—and understanding that each business’s own success would drive more revenue to the other—TNT helped TnW where it could. As Kiser said, “[w]e weren’t in business with Crab Catchers, but they were a sponsor of ours, and we supported them.” R. p. 1045, lines 21–23; *see also* R. p. 688, lines 8–12 (Long testifying, “I

¹ A separate corporation named Little River Watersports, Inc. was formed because of a miscommunication with TnW’s employees. It was never intended to function as a separate entity and was dissolved in October 2020. R. p. 897, line 6–p. 898, line 18; *see also* R. pp. 653, line 17–p. 656, line 11.

didn't nose in their business, but – and then they didn't get in my business. We supported each other.”).

The first way TNT showed its support was with access to a loan. Long and Kettner had advanced money to TnW “to get the project rolling.” R. p. 1300, lines 17–25. But TnW could not obtain an outside loan to fund its continued expansion. R. p. 494, line 20–p. 496, line 4. So in 2017, TNT agreed to be a co-borrower and pledge its real estate as additional collateral to help secure the loan. R. p. 949, line 4–p. 950, line 8. To ensure the bank had priority on this real estate, TNT paid off its existing mortgages using part of the loan proceeds and granted the bank new mortgages. *Id.* Roughly 25% of the loan proceeds refinanced TNT's existing mortgages (about \$280,000) and the bulk of the loan (about \$820,000) went toward TnW's marina operations and planned expansion. R. p. 1475, line 2–p. 1476, line 13. TNT and TnW's respective monthly payments on the loan mirrored this 25/75 split to ensure each party was responsible for its part of the loan. R. p. 1865 (stating the total loan payment was \$7,058); p. 507, line 23–p. 508, line 25 (TnW paid \$5,033 per month and TNT paid the remaining \$2,025 after Tim and Donny Kettner figured out how to split the payment). At no point were TnW's funds used to pay any portion of TNT's mortgage debt, and TNT received none of the loan's remaining balance for its own operations.

The second way TNT helped was with access to land. TnW had used part of Long and Kettner's contribution to buy the .75-acre parcel next to Crab Catchers for \$150,000. R. p. 494, line 20–p. 495, line 22; p. 786, lines 7–21; pp. 1835–36. But TnW needed access to additional upland frontage, bathrooms, and a parking lot to receive a marina permit. R. p. 1503, lines 20–24. It also needed upland property where it could place its fuel tank and run its jet ski rental business. R. p. 1582, line 21–p. 1583, line 2. Because TnW could not afford to buy or lease that property, it

reached a deal with TNT: TnW could use TNT's parking lot for parking and upland frontage, and temporarily use TNT's office space and bathrooms, and TNT's customers could use TnW's boat slips while dining at the restaurant. R. p. 517, lines 14–24. This arrangement allowed the businesses to complement one another. TNT (Crab Catchers) served the dining and boating public, while TnW (Little River Water Sports) offered marina services. Each company would increase consumer traffic in the area, thereby leading to increased business for both individually. R. p. 850, line 2–p. 851, line 5; p. 984, line 25–p. 985, line 8. Highlighting the informal nature of this arrangement, no written agreement exists between TNT and TnW. R. p. 1083, lines 11–14.

The third way TNT helped TnW was with after-hours support. Because Crab Catchers remained open later than the marina office, TNT trained some staff members to pump fuel and process sales after TnW's staff left for the day. R. p. 842, line 11–p. 843, line 8; p. 891, lines 11–15; p. 981, lines 4–25. Providing coverage for fuel and sales was in TNT's interest so after-hours visitors to the marina could patronize Crab Catchers.

But TNT's mutualistic assistance did not change a fundamental fact: TNT and TnW's businesses remained separate. Neither company had an ownership or membership interest in the other. R. p. 688, line 15–p. 689, line 6; p. 1084, lines 1–15; p. 1236, lines 11–25. Neither company had a right to control the business or operations of the other. R. p. 788, lines 8–16; p. 1257, lines 3–13; p. 1395, lines 12–23. Each maintained separate books, bank accounts, and credit cards, and each filed separate tax returns. R. p. 618, line 5–p. 620, line 8; p. 644, line 7–p. 645, line 24; p. 1098, lines 22–24; p. 1209, line 19–p. 1210, line 5. Similarly, each retained its separate profits, losses, and business operations. R. p. 742, line 8–p. 743, line 4; p. 788, lines 8–16; p. 1256, line 22–p. 1257, line 16; p. 1395, line 14–p. 1396, line 14. Each company's tax returns and commercial insurance policies

also represented that neither of them was a joint venture. R. p. 1224, lines 19–23; p. 1235, lines 4–10. The loan application likewise did not show it was for a joint venture. R. p. 965, lines 2–21; p. 1362, lines 5–20. Finally, none of the parties received a K-1 from any separate joint venture, which would have been required if one existed. R. p. 1200, line 3–p. 1208, line 15.

Long therefore had it right: TnW and TNT remained “totally separate businesses. They owned TNT. We opened TnW. They did their business. We did our business.” R. p. 688, line 23–p. 689, line 3. The mutual support they provided was for their own benefit.

III. 2020–2021: Respondents fall out with Kettner and extend their “war” to TNT, even though their evidence is “a little scarce,” “loosey-goosey,” and “a bit lacking.”

The parties “had a great relationship” before October 2020. R. p. 527, lines 1–8. Respondents do not allege TNT engaged in any wrongdoing during that time. R. p. 671, line 19–p. 672, line 3. But TnW had been losing money for years: \$27,530 in 2016, \$141,183 in 2017, \$377,036 in 2018, and \$48,773 in 2019. R. p. 1927; p. 1964; p. 2003; p. 2050. In May 2019, TnW’s bank account did not have enough money to cover the company’s expenses. R. p. 1237, lines 7–21. Covid then pushed the parties to the breaking point. R. p. 1237, line 22–p. 1293, line 3 (“The bank account was almost zero. Everybody needed money.”).

Long and Kiser offered to sell their shares in TnW to Kettner for \$150,000 each in September 2020. R. p. 1046, lines 16–25; p. 993, lines 9–18. Kettner refused because he was unwilling to pay Long and Kiser when the company was losing money. *Id.* In response, Long and Kiser “relieved [Kettner] of his responsibilities” and accused him of stealing money. R. p. 1098, lines 7–10; p. 1239, line 9–p. 1240, line 11; *see also* R. p. 1241, lines 11–13 (Kettner testifying that he was “[l]ocked out, kicked out, and called a thief”). Although Kettner kept his interest in TnW, he

sold his interest in TNT so he could move back to Wisconsin to care for his parents.² R. p. 1216, lines 6–25.

At that point, it was “war.” R. p. 527, lines 1–13 (“And it was war for both parties.”); p. 1239, lines 6–8 (“It’s a war – it sickens my stomach – caused by Wade Long and Chris Kiser. I’m sorry, it’s the truth.”). The battle began between Long, Kiser, and Kettner. *See* R. p. 1313, lines 6–16 (Kettner sending a text message in September 2020, “Remember, Wade hates me only.”). But it quickly extended to TnW and TNT. Questions arose about access to TNT’s property and the legality of fixtures which TnW installed on it (for which TNT was fined). R. p. 531, lines 6–21; p. 710, line 11–p. 711, line 15; p. 1390, lines 1–23. Hoping to resolve these matters, TNT proposed that the parties sign a lease “where things were spelled out and everyone knew what they were doing.” R. p. 1391, lines 10–17. TnW refused. *Id.* So TNT filed an ejectment action in magistrate’s court because TnW’s actions “put us in jeopardy and liability. The restaurant is our bread and butter. If something happened, we were liable.” R. p. 1390, lines 13–19; *see also* R. p. 1391, lines 2–9 (stating TNT sued because “we had to take care of these violations, make things were [sic] right, keep our restaurant protected and our property protected”). Respondents thereafter filed this case on March 12, 2021. Their lawsuit superseded the magistrate’s court case, and the circuit court granted a preliminary injunction allowing TnW to remain on TNT’s property pending this litigation. R. p. 1581, lines 11–18; *see also* R. pp. 11–15.

² Kettner and his brother-in-law Tony sold their interests in TNT to Kettner’s son Donny (37% interest), Donny’s half-brother Casey Kuzmik (25% interest), long-time server at Crab Catcher’s Justine Vaitis (20% interest), and extended family member Robert Benoit (18% interest). R. p. 1220, line 25–p. 1223, line 20. At one point, Jose Morales owned 20% of TNT, but he sold his interest back to the company. R. p. 869, lines 7–18.

Much of the war, and the focus of Respondents' case, was on Kettner's actions, the actions of individuals whom Respondents voluntarily dismissed from this case, and claims which Respondents voluntarily dismissed. In the end, Respondents went to trial against TNT on just three narrow claims.

First, Respondents claimed TNT breached a "joint venture agreement" regarding the development of TnW's marina business by ejecting TnW from TNT's property. R. p. 1089, lines 2-15; p. 1257, lines 5-15; p. 1391, lines 2-17; p. 1581, lines 4-10. Respondents admitted that the evidence of a joint venture is "a little scarce" and asked the jury to "buckle up" when considering it. R. p. 1583, lines 13-16. As pled in all three complaints and testified to by Long, the joint venture was TnW. R. p. 44, ¶5; p. 85, ¶5; p. 169, ¶5; p. 255, lines 2-24; p. 1098, line 22-p. 1099, line 16. Then came the first swerve. Kiser testified—and Respondents' counsel argued and the circuit court found—that the joint venture was the sharing of the parking lot and boat slips. R. p. 18; p. 1582, lines 9-20. Then another. The jury found that the joint venture was "cooperation between TNT and TnW" through "consolidation of debt," "guarantee of the loan," the "shared use" of facilities, and the "future economic benefit to all parties." R. p. 39. At no point did anyone identify a common enterprise separate from either TnW or TNT's individual businesses.

Second, Respondents alleged that TNT should be estopped from denying its promise that TnW could use its property. R. p. 1583, line 24-p. 1585, line 1. This claim mirrors, and was pled in the alternative to, TnW's breach of joint venture claim. *Id.*

Third, Respondents alleged TNT "interfered with the economic relations" of TnW "by blocking access to the parking lot and its buildings by blocking water sports business activities, including the sale of fuel, and threatening and harassing [Respondents], customers, and

employees.” R. p. 174, ¶30. But generic “economic interference” is not a recognized claim. Respondents therefore recognized at trial that they only had claims for interference with contract and prospective contractual relations. R. p. 1459, lines 1–15 (“[T]he economic inference, I couldn’t find that cause of action. I think what [a prior lawyer] stated, maybe in-artfully, is you interfered with our contract.”).

Respondents conceded that their evidence is “a little loosey-goosey” and that “we’re a bit lacking in the [evidence of damages] department.” R. p. 1459, lines 1–15. While they tried to make generic “economic interference” a theme of their case, and likely will do so in their opposition brief here, their claim only concerns a single contract with Eric Rolf. R. p. 1498, lines 4–23. Rolf ran a jet ski rental company called East Coast Atlantic Jet Skis. R. p. 549, lines 18–21. He began operating out of TnW’s docks in 2021, after the “war” began. R. p. 998, line 4–p. 999, line 17. He had a written lease with TnW from March 2021 through March 2022 at \$10,000 per month, at which point it became month-to-month. R. p. 549, line 18–p. 550, line 1; pp. 1806–13. Rolf continued to lease the property as a carryover tenant until he terminated the lease in the second half of 2022 due to Respondents’ alleged interference with his business.³ R. p. 1001, line 9–p. 1003, line 10. The record does not show how long Rolf would have continued his lease without the alleged interference. But right after Rolf left, TnW entered a new lease with a replacement jet ski operator. R. p. 1420, lines 14–20 (Long testifying at trial in June 2024 that he had been leasing to the jet ski

³ This appeal does not concern the alleged underlying interference. While TNT vigorously disputed the evidence presented at trial, it recognizes that Respondents presented enough to create a jury question on this issue. TNT therefore did not seek a JNOV on it and, as a result, does not raise it here. Because there is no appellate question which involves those facts, TNT does not address them in its brief. *See McCall v. Finley*, 294 S.C. 1, 4, 362 S.E.2d 26, 28 (Ct. App. 1987) (“[W]hatever doesn’t make any difference, doesn’t matter.”).

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