RECEIVED

Jul 01 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
The Honorable Alex B. Hyman

Appellate Court Case 2025-002251

Thomas Wade Long and Clyde Kiser, individually,
And on behalf of TNW and More, LLC, Respondents,

v.

Timothy D. Kettner and TNT and
More, Inc., d/b/a Crab Catchers on the Waterfront, Defendants

of which Timothy D. Kettner and TNT and
More, Inc., d/b/a Crab Catchers on the Waterfront are Appellants

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Tucker S. Player (S.C. Bar No. 16217)
PLAYER LAW FIRM
512 Village Church Drive
Chapin, SC 29036
(803) 315-6300

Attorneys for Respondents

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

ARGUMENTS

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The denial of summary judgment and directed verdict motions are reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Strategic Resources Co. v. BCS Life Ins. Co.*, 367 S.C. 540, 544, 627 S.E.2d 687, 689 (2006). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the decision of the trial court is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law." *Peek v. Spartanburg Reg'l Healthcare Sys.*, 367 S.C. 450, 454, 626 S.E.2d 34, 36 (Ct. App. 2005). "In ruling on directed verdict or JNOV motions, the trial court is required to view the evidence and the inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motions." *Sabb v. S.C. State Univ.*, 350 S.C. 416, 427, 567 S.E.2d 231, 236 (2002). "The trial court must deny the motions when the evidence yields more than one inference or its inference is in doubt." *Id.* The appellate court "will reverse the trial court's rulings on these motions only [when] there is no evidence to support the rulings or [when] the rulings are controlled by an error of law." *Hinkle v. Nat'l Cas. Ins. Co.*, 354 S.C. 92, 96, 579 S.E.2d 616, 618 (2003). "When considering a JNOV, 'neither [an appellate] court, nor the trial court has authority to decide credibility issues or to resolve conflicts in the testimony or the evidence.'" *Curcio v. Caterpillar, Inc.*, 355 S.C. 316, 320, 585 S.E.2d 272, 274 (2003) (quoting *Reiland v. Southland Equip. Serv., Inc.*, 330 S.C. 617, 634, 500 S.E.2d 145, 154 (Ct. App. 1998), *abrogated on other grounds by Webb v. CSX Transp., Inc.*, 364 S.C. 639, 653, 615 S.E.2d 440, 448 (2005)). A "JNOV should not be granted unless only one reasonable inference can be drawn from the evidence." *Reiland*, 330 S.C. at 634, 500 S.E.2d at 154.

1. The trial court did not err in refusing to vacate the jury award against Appellant Timothy Kettner for breach of fiduciary duty

Appellant Kettner argues that the only evidence of any breach of fiduciary duty consists of a few text messages Kettner sent to the members of TnT. The text messages in question are laid out above and in Appellant's initial brief. They demonstrate that Tim Kettner was directing and advising his son and the other members of TnT on how to best destroy Wade Long and his marina business owned by TnW. There is nothing ambiguous about the texts. Appellant makes the argument that Kettner resigned from TnT and had no ability to control them. However, Kettner still had a substantial financial interest in TnT as every member financed their purchase of Kettner's interest in TnT. The source of that financing? Kettner himself. And no one had paid off that loan at the time of trial. **R.1321-1322**. While this may be true in a corporate capacity or in terms of agency, Tim Kettner still held substantial power over the members of TnT during the relevant time frame. But the issue on appeal is not how he acted on behalf of TnT, but how he acted in his individual capacity as a member of TnW. Kettner told TnT about his plan to dupe Wade from the beginning (**R.988**), actively advised them how to remove and convert a piece of property owned by TnW (**R.1075**), how to deceive Wade Long into believing the members of TnT were friendly to Wade (**R.1078-1080**), how to infiltrate Wade's business and stay "incognito." (**R.1079**). Every single one of these texts is evidence of Appellant Kettner directly working against the financial interests of the company which he owns with Wade Long and Chris Kiser. He literally referred to his business partner as "the enemy" and called for "war" against that same partner. Appellant makes the comment in his brief that Kettner still owed "whatever" fiduciary duties owed by an excluded member. Those duties are well defined in statute. South Carolina statutory law imposes fiduciary duties on members and states that those

duties exist until dissolution or disassociation. S.C. Code Section 33-44-409. If a member of a company is improperly excluded from the operation of the business, his remedy is not to forego his own statutorily mandated fiduciary obligations. His remedy is to seek relief in a court of law, which Kettner chose not to do until the conclusion of the jury trial. From the moment Appellant Kettner decided to become a member of TnW & More, LLC with Wade Long, his fiduciary duties began and continue to this day. The text messages unambiguously demonstrate a breach of loyalty by assisting an entity with purely adverse interests to TnW & More, LLC in destroying TnW & More, LLC. Appellant admits in his brief that he had a duty not to interfere with the business of TnW. The text messages show Appellant was directly interfering with TnW by directing the members of TnT to remove the ski hut, use the government against TnW, and “infiltrate” Wade’s business (which is Appellant Kettner’s business as well). Appellant argues he only sent text messages. This is disingenuous. Everything Kettner directed TnT to do, they did. The fact that Respondent could not get a group of conspirators to admit a conspiracy is not a bar to recovery. Tim Kettner declared war on his business partner, called him “the enemy,” and induced the remaining members of TnT to actively work to destroy the business of TnW. This is the very definition of a breach of fiduciary duty and can certainly be reasonably inferred from the evidence. Therefore, the jury verdict was properly upheld by the lower court.

Appellant claims Respondents damages are restricted to the loss of East Coast Atlantic Ski Rentals. Yet, the evidence of loss far exceeds the loss of that rental. Appellants first claim the only evidence of damages was the value of the contract with Eric Rolf. Respondents agree that this is the only measure of special damages introduced by Plaintiffs. Wade Long testified that he was out of pocket approximately \$1.4 million and suffered damage to his reputation as a

result of the dispute with TnT. **R.565.** Long, Rolf, and Kiser all testified that the customer base was constantly harassed by TnT. This necessarily caused a loss of good will to TnW.

Equipment was destroyed and signs removed, which led to unforeseen and unnecessary costs.

The jury was charged (without objection from any party) the measure of damages for interference with contract include:

- Unforeseen expenses
- Damage to reputation
- Damage for loss of employees
- Damage for loss of customers
- Damage for loss of goodwill
-

The testimony from Wade Long, Chris Kiser, and Eric Rolf was replete with examples of the bullying, hostility, and property destruction conducted by Appellants. While no mathematical calculation was provided, general damages are not typically susceptible to such reduction. The tax returns of TNW were in evidence and so were the projections from the Credit Memorandum.

R.1759. Geoff Hopkins testified that those projections were not pure speculation and were important to the decision by the bank to loan the \$1.1. million. Those projections indicated that TnW should have been making \$649,000 in the first year from marina operations alone. The testimony was that they barely broke even. **R.545, 1077-1079.** More importantly, Tim Kettner agreed that those projections were submitted on his behalf in applying for the loan. **R.1323.** The jury was charged regarding speculative damages and gave the evidence the weight they deemed appropriate in their deliberations. Let us not forget that Wade Long was asked to read his \$10 million valuation of his company into the record on cross examination. There is more than sufficient evidence to support the jury's verdict.

2. The trial court did not err in refusing to vacate the jury award against Appellant Timothy Kettner for economic interference

Appellants both make the same argument regarding the damages for tortious interference with contract. Obviously, the Rolf contract was the most immediate proof of a broken contract caused by Respondents, but the testimony concerning the direct and abusive harassment of customers is also interference with contractual relations and interference with prospective contractual relations. Every single business transaction is a contract of some form. The intentional acts to harass customers by Respondents is clear and direct evidence of interference with contacts and potential contracts and the jury verdict must stand.

Appellants also claim that there was no evidence of Tim Kettner's financial status and that precludes an award of punitive damages. There is no caselaw that requires Defendant to introduce evidence of a Defendant's ability to pay. This is a factor to be considered, but it is not a pleading or evidentiary requirement of the party seeking punitive damages. Moreover, there was evidence in the record of Mr. Kettner's wealth. The financial declaration of Tim Kettner, which was provided by Mr. Kettner in relation to the \$1.1 million loan, was introduced into evidence and discussed during his direct testimony. I specifically asked him about his \$4.5 million valuation and he said some things had changed since it was introduced. **R.1307**. The only thing he could point out was the sale of some real estate, but he could not give a current value of net worth. Appellants want this Court to rule Mr. Kettner can completely avoid punitive damages by simply refusing to answer a question about his financial condition. This is ludicrous. Therefore, the lower court did not err in sustaining the jury verdict.

3. The trial court did not err in refusing to require the Appellants to elect remedies

Appellants are not required to elect between the damages for breach of fiduciary duty and tortious interference with contract. These were two separate and distinct causes of action based on

different duties and different damages. The tortious interference cause of action was based on the overt actions to damage the business of TNW through eliminating access to the parking lot, removing the ski hut (which Kettner specifically texted about to TnT Members), harassing customers on the dock, threatening to tow customer vehicles, using government authorities to cause problems, and destroying TNW property. The breach of fiduciary duty was based on Kettner's breach of loyalty (as demonstrated by the 2020 and 2021 texts declaring war on TNW), his failure to provide access to the financial records (Wade Long testified that he was shut out of the books after confronting Kettner about the missing cash, Kettner admitted he could not account for the cash received during the summer of 2020. **R.1304**). There is no double recovery by allowing Respondents to recover the \$50,000.00 actual/\$150,000.00 punitive award for the breach of fiduciary duty and the \$120,000 actual/\$120,000.00 punitive award for tortious interference. Therefore the jury verdict must stand.

4. The trial court did not err in denying a JNOV on the jury's finding that a joint venture exists

Appellants come to this Court and argue that there was no evidence of a "joint venture." Two companies obtain a single \$1.1 million loan, pledge every real property owned by either company as collateral for that loan, and operate together for nearly three years were not a joint venture. I honestly think I could stop here and be fine. But there is more. A lot more. But first, let us look at the jury charge which was not objected to by any appellant:

Ladies and gentlemen, next I charge you the law as to joint venture. A joint venture has been defined as an association of persons with the intent by way of an expressed or implied contract. The intent to engage in and carry out a single business venture for joint profit for which purpose they can combine their efforts, property, money, skills, and knowledge without creating – without creating a partnership or corporation. A joint venture is an agreement that there will be a community of interest among them as to

the purpose of the undertaking, and that each participant will stand in the relationship – stand in relation of principal, as well as agent, to each of the others with an equal right to control the means employed to effect the common purpose of the venture. The mere sharing of an economic interest is not sufficient to form a joint venture. There must be some evidence that the parties participated and had control of the venture. Similarly, the assertion of a mutual and beneficial relationship without more is insufficient to establish an equal right and control of the venture. In order to establish the existence of a joint venture, it is essential to establish that each party enjoys equal control, equal right to control conduct of the others regarding the common purpose. Generally, the fiduciary relationship between co-venturers ordinarily precludes one of them from purchasing or leasing property related to the enterprises either for himself or another in the absence of a full disclosure to his associate. I charge you that the burden of proof to establish the relationship of a joint venturer is on the party who alleges the existence of the relationship.

Here is a summary of the plethora of evidence that the marina and parking lot were part of a joint venture:

- According to Tim Kettner, the agreement between TnT and TnW was a “joint venture” **R.1045**
- According to Long, Crosson, Todd, and Kiser, TNW used the bathrooms in the TNT building as its own, which were required to obtain the marina permit, with full approval of TnT;
- According to Long, Crosson, Todd, and Kiser TNW used the offices in the TNT building as its own with the full approval of TNT;
- According to Long and Kiser all of TNW’s records were kept in the TNT building;
- According to Long, Kiser, Hopkins and Tim Kettner, TNW could not operate a marina under the current applicable regulations without the use of the parking lot;

- The Credit Memorandum (**R.1759**) unambiguously stated that TNT needed the parking lot constructed by TNW to continue its operation as a restaurant;
- According to Long and Kiser, the joint venture was the use of the parking lot by TNW in exchange for the use of two boat slips in the marina by TNT for its customers;
- According to Long and Kiser, the joint venture was never to combine the businesses, control the businesses jointly, or allow either business to assert control over the core functions of the others' business;
- The testimony from Long, Kiser, Todd and Crosson was clear that both businesses operated in accordance with this joint venture agreement for three years;
- **R.1777** demonstrated TNW was one of two entities that could control the parking lot as the signs placed by TNT stated that to the public;
- According to Long and Kiser, TNT used, and continues to use, the boat slips in the marina to this very day;
- Steve Crosson testified that TNT controlled the fuel operations of TNW whenever there were no employees of TNW present;
- Steve Crosson testified that credit cards for ski rentals were run on TNT credit card machines when TNT employees controlled the jet ski operations;
- Steve Crosson testified that TNT employees used the jet skis free of charge in the off season; and

- Defendants argued, ad nauseum, that TNW never made a profit. Now they seek a dismissal for the failure of TNW to share those non-existent profits;

All of this evidence satisfies the elements required to show a joint venture. This argument is simply without merit. While Appellants love the transcript of Wade Long's deposition(s), the jury is allowed to believe or disbelieve anything stated by a witness. The argument that TnW is the joint venture so it can't be a joint venture is simply false. At trial, Wade Long very specifically testified that the joint venture between TnT and TnW was (1) the development of the parking lot for use by both entities; (2) the construction of the marina/docks to benefit all parties; (3) the agreement that TnT was allowed to use two boat slips; (4) TnW was allowed to use the parking lot; and (5) a \$1.1 million loan would be taken out to pay for the docks, parking lot, and future buildings including a new restaurant and a dock master office. This is exactly what the jury found and their verdict should not be disturbed.

5. The trial court did not err in denying a JNOV as to Respondents' breach of joint venture agreement claim

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